EXPLORING GENERATION Z'S ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS AND ITS EFFECTS ON THEIR PURCHASING BEHAVIORS

by

Dalton Alexis Courtney

HONORS THESIS

Submitted to Texas State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for graduation in the Honors College May 2020

Thesis Supervisor:

Linda Alkire

COPYRIGHT

by

Dalton Alexis Courtney

Spring 2020

FAIR USE AND AUTHOR'S PERMISSION STATEMENT

Fair Use

This work is protected by the Copyright Laws of the United States (Public Law 94-553, section 107). Consistent with fair use as defined in the Copyright Laws, brief quotations from this material are allowed with proper acknowledgement. Use of this material for financial gain without the author's express written permission is not allowed.

Duplication Permission

As the copyright holder of this work I, Dalton Alexis Courtney, authorize duplication of this work, in whole or in part, for educational or scholarly purposes only.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Literature Review	4
Global Warming	4
Historical Overview of Consumption Practices	6
Generational Cohorts	8
The Silent Generation	9
Baby Boomers	11
Generation X	13
Millennials	15
Generation Z	17
Generational Cohort Comparison	19
Generation Z's Consumption Behavior	20
Business Solutions	22
Corporate Social Responsibility	22
Definition and Background	22
Advantages and Disadvantages	24
Suggested Modifications to Corporate Social Responsibility	27
Green Marketing	30
Definition and Background	30
Advantages and Disadvantages	32
Suggested Modifications to Green Marketing	36
Social Innovation	40
Definition and Background	40
Advantages and Disadvantages	42
Suggested Modifications to Social Innovation	45
Conclusion	49
Research Limitations	50
Further Research	52
References	54

Abstract

In the last two centuries consumption has risen due to the Industrial Revolution. Consumers' purchasing behaviors and consumption levels illustrated over the past few decades have resulted in a rise in environmental concerns among younger generations. Generation Z consists of people born from the mid-1990s to the mid-2000s and are starting to graduate college, enter the workforce, and gain a voice through voting in elections. Studies have shown that consumers are more likely to purchase products that align with their personal values or from companies who support issues that consumers are concerned about. As younger generations concern regarding the environment and sustainability rises, companies are starting to use newer solutions to illustrate that they care about these issues. However, since Generation Z is a younger group there has not been much research on how environmental concerns affect their purchasing behavior. Many companies have tried to use corporate social responsibility, green marketing, and social innovation to illustrate to consumers that they share the same concerns and are currently trying to make their products sustainable. The lack of studies over Generation Z's preferences or how environmental issues affect their purchasing behaviors, is a serious problem for companies because this age group is estimated to make up 25% of the American population and have higher purchasing potential than previous generations. This research looks at three different tactics used by companies and makes recommendations on how they can be modified to be more authentic.

Keywords: Generation Z, environment, companies, purchasing behavior, CSR, green marketing, social innovation

Introduction

What do you hope to leave behind for the next generation once you are gone? Do you believe that your great grandchildren have a right to see all the beautiful landmarks that you were given the privilege to grow up with? Most people, especially younger generations, believe that we need to become environmentally conscious in order to protect our environment for those that come after us (Parker et al., 2019). However, through the last century there has been a trend of global warming heavily resulting from mass consumption following the Industrial Revolution (Jain & Jain, 2019). The need to produce more at a faster pace, the rise of affluenza, and the increase in population has directly led to factories producing more greenhouse gasses, the constant need to throw out a perfectly good product for something new, and massive amounts of trash ending up in landfills and the ocean (Sheykhi, 2019).

While past generations illustrated their desire to protect the environment, we can see a surge of environmental awareness within younger generations. Generation Z is an important group that companies need to pay attention to because they are at the age where they are a major portion of voters, entering the workforce, and have the power to make their own buying decisions (Williams, 2015). Generation Z, the group that follows Generation Y also known as millennials, was born between 1996 and 2015 (Panwar & Mehta, 2019). Most studies regarding eco-friendly companies or products focus on the scientific aspects and the studies that focus on population tend to leave out or disregard younger generations. Gen Z is estimated to become the largest US consumer population, approximately 72 million people in the world, and is being left out of studies regarding consumers' purchase decisions and practices (Insider, 2017). This generation is the

largest ever seen in American history and makes up approximately 27% of the population in the United States which is very important to note considering the United States is a global superpower and is one of the top importers in the world (Insider, 2017). This means that Generation Z has more buying potential than any other group in the United States and if companies want to cater to a group that some studies have previously ignored they need to first understand what type of products this group wants to buy and what causes them to be loyal to some companies over others (Williams, 2015).

For a member of Generation Z one of the most important topics today is the environment (Dudharejia, 2020). More specifically it is how society can become socially responsible so that we do not destroy this Earth for future generations. As large corporations and mass consumption have become more prominent in today's society, both sides have searched for new and efficient ways to take on responsibility in regards to the environment. This research will focus on generations' purchasing behaviors, how Generation Z's consumption behavior and concern affects their purchase decisions, and some of the practices that companies are using to illustrate that they share these concerns or values.

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows: we provide background research on what effects various generations consumption behavior, we will discuss Generation Z's unique purchasing behavior, and then look at how their environmental concerns differ from previous generations. After presenting this research and data, the thesis will discuss some of the practices companies have used to demonstrate that they share these concerns and build a stronger, more trusting, relationship with younger

generations like Gen Z. In this section we will look at the history of these practices, the advantages and disadvantages, and how some companies have tried to modify the practice to make them more successful. Finally, we will conclude this thesis by looking at some of the research limitations and areas for further research.

Literature Review

Global Warming

As scientists have previously stated the Earth has a natural warming rate that causes temperatures to rise and lead to other environmental issues. However, countless studies have proven that humans are the number one, and most dangerous, cause of global warming due to the large amount of greenhouse gasses that we release into the atmosphere every single day (Houghton, 2009). These gasses help trap the heat produced from the sun in our atmosphere, otherwise known as the Greenhouse Effect, and leads to an overall warming of the planet (Raghuraman et al., 2019). This is what we know as global warming and it has been proven to be the cause of many environmental changes such as: rising sea levels, the intensification of extreme weather events, and organisms dying due to changes in their environment that they cannot withstand (McNall, 2011). National Geographic has stated that wildlife is struggling to keep up (Nunez, 2019) and how we are treating the planet has led to the loss of habit for many endangered species.

Whether you believe that the Earth is warming on its own, that humans are the cause of global warming, or that the warming is due to a combination of various factors there are very serious consequences due to climate change. Mankind has increased the amount of greenhouse gasses in the atmosphere by an estimated 33% since the Industrial Revolution. It has been stated that "the present consumption patterns cannot be met by a

finite planet, and two planets shall be required to meet the ever increasing consumption" (Jain & Jain, 2019, p. 475). Many have argued that we are already past the point of no return, so why should we bother using any efforts to try to stop what has already been set in motion. The answer: OUR future! Younger generations, like Gen Z, have been described as open minded and due to the increasing access to technology they have become more aware of the issues that are prominent in today's society (Seemiller & Grace, 2016). As we can see with the protests on climate change, these demonstrations are being led by the youth. For example, Greta Thunberg has played a major role in inspiring people to take to the streets of major global cities and demand for their government to do something to change our situation. She recently spoke to the United Nations and stated that "the eyes of all future generations are upon you. And if you choose to fail us I say we will never forgive you. We will not let you get away with this. Right here, right now is where we draw the line" (Nations, 2019). Companies and countries need to pay attention because younger generations are very concerned about this issue and Generation Z is finally old enough to take on the role of the consumer, while also holding companies to a higher standard than previous generations did. In "Healthy Lifestyle and Behaviors of Z Generation" the authors stated that they "have found that in several cases, corporations and organizations are not aware of the knowledge possessed by their human capital, nor do they know what kind of knowledge they could utilize" which further proves the point that companies need to learn more about younger generations if they want to sell their products to a larger market (Bencsik et al., 2019, p. 298).

Due to the increasing threat of climate change it is up to everyone to play their part in helping us create a more sustainable environment for our future. This includes everyone from consumers to companies, no matter the size. In today's age companies have a way of making individuals feel guilty about climate change and that they should be doing the most to combat climate change like going vegetarian or vegan, recycling, running less water, etc. In reality companies have a larger, more negative, impact on global warming because they produce mass amounts of waste and carbon emissions, and they need to work just as hard, if not harder, to reduce their impact on our world (Riley, 2017).

Historical Overview of Consumption Practices

As stated above one of the worst causes for global warming, especially in developed countries, is the rise in consumption over the last century. During the Industrial Revolution, people were paid better wages and advocated for better working conditions in the factory which led to society having more time for leisure and more money to spend on items that were previously deemed unnecessary (Allen, 2017). Society started buying more and tactics like layaway and credit were introduced which furthered the rise in consumption (Dompe & Smith, 2014). However, this also led to a rise in competition in various industries which gave consumers more options and resulted in companies trying to compete with each other for 'wealth' (Kuperman & Wio, 2002). In a day where few companies monopolized the marketplace they did not have to stand out to sell a product because they were the only company, or one of the very few, that could offer what the consumer was looking for. This is where we can also see a rise in Fordism which used mass production to produce one option for consumers to buy (Watson, 2019).

However, today's world is described as Post-Fordism because it allows for flexibility which means that there are more options on the market and customers can even have their products customized to fit their needs (Scott et al., 2005). While the rise in consumption is great news for the CEO of a major corporation, it also forces marketers to focus on what the consumer wants because if that company does not offer it they will be losing money to their competition.

Developing countries also play a large role in the irresponsible use of factories and production in efforts to fuel mass consumption (Alderman & Paxson, 1994). Many companies are building factories in developing countries where cheaper labor is found so that they can increase their profit margin (Feenstra & Hanson, 1996). However, some of these developing countries have suffered over the years due to imperialism and urbanization which have led to political instability, lack of capital, rebellions, etc. that have resulted in very loose rules, if any, being put in place to regulate these businesses (Sheykhi, 2019). One of the reasons that companies are so easily drawn to these locations is because their promise to bring jobs to the people and boost the economy keeps politics from standing in their way of potentially damaging the environment that exists there. While these cities also have issues due to high transportation rates, unsafe sanitation management, and many other reasons, it is safe to argue that the factories producing companies' products cause more damage by releasing massive amounts of greenhouse gasses and leading to enormous amounts of waste sitting in landfills or making its way into the waterways (H. Wang et al., 2003).

Due to the mass consumption seen in the last century, concerns about the environment have been raised by younger generations. Various age groups have been studied in the past, however technology has increased at such a rapid pace that people born in the 1990s and people born in the 2000s are very different from one another (Circella et al., 2016). While many younger generations, like Gen Y and Gen Z, think alike Generation Z has expressed various concerns about companies impact on the environment and how products can be more sustainable for our future planet.

Generational Cohorts

For years, demographers have grouped people into generational cohorts and compared them to study economic trends, political ideologies, and social trends over time (CNN, 2019). For the purpose of this thesis, we will look at the Silent Generation, Baby Boomers, Generation X, Millennials (also known as Generation Y), and Generation Z. We will use these groups because throughout most of the world the Silent Generation is the oldest, since the oldest people in this group were born almost 100 years ago, and Generation Z is the youngest group of people that are becoming global consumers. It is important to note that generation beginning and end dates differ based on sources, so for the purpose of this thesis we will use Pew Research to define the timeline for each cohort.

In the overview of generations, we will also define some of the historical events or major changes that took place during certain generations' childhood. The generational cohort theory hypothesizes that significant events and social changes are what alter people's attitude, beliefs, ideology, and values (Ivanova et al., 2019). This means that instead of cohorts being grouped together by age and maturity, they are grouped together by their ideology that happened to be shaped from events that they all witnesses and

learned from as children or young adults. In this section we will see how each generation is defined, study some of their unique purchasing behaviors, and discuss how companies have marketed their products to these demographics.

The Silent Generation

The Silent Generation groups together some of the oldest consumers in today's markets and has seen a large decline in population size over the last few decades. Born between 1928 and 1945, after World War I and during the Great Depression, this demographic was more cautious than their parents due to the economic climate that shaped their childhood (CNN, 2019). However, the Silent Generation was blessed with the economic prosperity following World War II and low birth rates in the 1930s and 1940s which resulted in a larger demand for labor than there were workers and increased American wages (Howe, 2014). These characteristics and the events that defined this cohort helped lead to a rise in consumption among the Silent Generation, the formation of larger corporations, and more competition in the marketplace which has drastically changed their consumption behaviors.

This cohort is very traditional and is known for supporting patriotism, simplicity, conservatism, and traditional family values. When comparing The Silent Generation to Baby Boomers and Millennials, the former scores much higher for a sense of patriotism among different generations (Adams & Gay, 2019). Due to these old-fashioned values companies have largely marketed products to this generation by using images that illustrate strong family and community bonds, patriotism, and respect (Bedgood, 2019). Since this demographic is more traditional than most, marketers must also understand how to connect with this generation by utilizing communication methods that this cohort

understands. For example, the Silent Generation is the oldest cohort still alive today and did not have major technological inventions, like the Internet and smartphones, for the first half of their life. Previously advertisers reached their target market through printed materials like direct mail, newspapers, magazines, and other forms of written communication (Linton, 2019). While some consumers in the Silent Generation have adapted with technology, the majority prefer companies to reach out to them through direct mail, newsletters, postcards, etc. because they find technology difficult to use and have a desire for things to be like the 'good old days' (Bedgood, 2019).

Members of the Silent Generation are the wealthiest among all generations and have remained active consumers in industries that focus on housing, healthcare, financial services, and travel (Bedgood, 2019). It is important to notice that this generation tends to spend more money in industries like travel and healthcare than retail, education, or entertainment because they have little need for products sold in the latter industries. This generation's consumption behaviors also focus on time and price since much of the population has been retired for years. The Silent Generation values bargains and since they are no longer working they have the time to wait until products go on sale before purchasing them (Costin, 2019). This generational cohort is also known to create shopping lists and clip coupons before they run errands, so that they do not buy products on impulse and know what products are on sale before they enter the store (CNN, 2019). They also very rarely buy their products online and like to go to specific stores once they know what they are looking for (Costin, 2019). Since this demographic focuses on bargains and has lived most of their lives without any environmental issues being highlighted, they continue to buy products that are more convenient rather than products

that are environmentally friendly or more sustainable. Age has played a major role in how the Silent Generation behaves as consumers because retirement gives them more time to research a product or go shopping, but less income to spend on products which results in them shopping for products that are cheaper or more convenient.

Baby Boomers

Baby Boomers make up some of the oldest consumers for global markets since most of the Silent Generation is retired and under the care of others due to old age. This demographic is characterized as being born between 1946 - 1964 and was impacted by the Civil Rights in the 1960s. This generation saw an increase in births after the return of soldiers from World War II and was named due to the large amount of people born in a short period of time (CNN, 2019). Baby boomers were born in a time of economic prosperity after America won the war, but unfortunately witnessed a major recession in the 1980s that has led to many people in this group waiting to retire later in life. Pew Research has illustrated that Baby Boomers give their quality of life a lower rating than any other generation and are very concerned about financial issues ("Baby Boomers," 2008).

The 1980s recession affected this generational cohort in multiple ways by making them anxious about finances, value working so much that they coined the term 'workaholics', and impacting their basic consumption behaviors ("Baby Boomers," 2008). Since this generation was a part of the working middle class during the 1980s recession and many people faced unemployment, it made members more conscious when shopping for products. Baby Boomers, like the Silent Generation, mainly go to the store with pre-made shopping lists and use coupons when buying their products (Jeyes, 2019)

because this was necessary when money was tight and they became used to only buying the essentials. However, Baby Boomers are also more likely to choose products from brands that they believe have truthful ads and price products fairly. This generation is also known as the 'me generation' because people started to shift to self-centered and individualistic attitudes where they wanted to know how products would benefit themselves (Rutigliano, 2017). This is where companies started to see consumers' distrust for their products and a surge in individualism when deciding on what product to buy (Parment, 2013). While the Silent Generation bought products that were recommended by friends and family or illustrated similar values, this generation decided to start making their own decisions about a company and its' products. This demographic has extremely traditional values and tends to buy products based on brand, their trust in the company, and the product's ease of use (Jeyes, 2019) which means that environmental concerns are less likely to affect this demographic's purchasing behavior.

While Baby Boomers share many traditional values with the Silent Generation, they are more social than the previous generation. Since Baby Boomers remain very adamant in what companies they are loyal to, they have illustrated that they like to be rewarded for their loyalty to these companies (Bedgood, 2019). This has resulted in many companies targeting this demographic by creating loyalty programs that provide the customers with some type of reward for shopping with them frequently. Surprisingly, Baby Boomers have seen the largest jump in demographics using social media sites and 82% of this cohort uses at least one social media platform (Bedgood, 2019). While Facebook is the most popular social media platform for this generation, they spend an estimated twenty-seven hours a week online and spend around \$7 billion annually online

(Bedgood, 2019). This has led to an increase in the number of companies that are advertising their products on social media sites like Facebook in hopes of targeting this large demographic. Forbes has stated that since this generational cohort is very individualistic, it is important for marketers to know this in order to highlight the benefits this product provides for the person using it (Rutigliano, 2017). While Baby Boomers also watch television where they are just as likely to see an advertisement for a product, studies have shown that more than 50% of the people in this group that use social media are more likely to visit a company's website or continue to research the product (Bedgood, 2019).

Generation X

Generation X is also known as 'Latchkey kids' due to the increase in daycares and parental divorce children witnessed during this time period (*Generations X,Y, Z and the Others*). This resulted in a large demographic described as self-reliant, independent, and entrepreneurial (Katz, 2017). They tend to believe in the idea of working smarter, not harder, reject rules, mistrust institutions, and value family time (Katz, 2017). Since this generational cohort saw a decline in familial values as children, they have committed themselves to creating a much sturdier home life than they had which has resulted in them spending most of their money in the housing, restaurant, and retail industries (Bedgood, 2019). However, this generational cohort is also at the stage in life where most are working and raising a family simultaneously which leads them to make purchase decisions based on convenience. According to a report by the Convenience Store News, Generation X id more likely to buy products from online retailers like Amazon than any other generation due to their busy schedules and the convenience of Amazon Prime

(Swain-Wilson, 2018). While this generation spends about \$322.5 billion annually (Bedgood, 2019) and are seen as deliberate over spenders, they spend much less than other generational cohorts.

Generation X, born in the 1960s and 1970s, grew up during and slightly after politics shifted towards issues regarding the environment (CNN, 2019). Impacted by a vast array of historical events like Watergate, AIDS, the Vietnam War, the introduction of MTV, and much more, Generation X is one of the first generational cohorts that started to demand social, political, and environmental change. In the 1970s American citizens celebrated the first Earth Day, witnessed the publication of "Silent Spring" and saw Congress pass the Clean Air Act and Clean Water Act (Coughlin, 2018). The acknowledgment of the negative impacts that society, corporations, and individuals have on our environment drastically changed how younger generations felt about environmental issues. Generation X followed Baby Boomers in taking a more physical approach to these issues by volunteering to clean riverbanks, pick up trash, rescue sea turtles, etc. (Coughlin, 2018) and studies have not seen signs of environmental concerns having a drastic impact on their consumption behaviors.

As the rise of the Internet came when most people in this demographic were in their teens to mid-twenties, many of them created their first email accounts which was used as a major form of communication during this time. This has affected how Generation X is marketed to today, because about 8 out of 10 people in this group claim that they prefer email marketing (Bedgood, 2019). Like Baby Boomers Generation X's favorite social media platform is Facebook where they enjoy sharing content with others.

This means that many companies aiming to connect with this generation are utilizing social media to create interactive ads to sell their products. However, due to Generation X being very busy in their everyday lives they prefer promotional emails or online ads that get straight to the point or else they will stop paying attention to the message the organization is trying to relay about their products (Bedgood, 2019). Generation X also has a tendency to grant companies with long term loyalty if they give out free items or coupons, so companies have focused on creating subscription lists where they will send out emails involving coupons or deals to customers that are subscribed (Bedgood, 2019).

Millennials

Millennials, also known as Generation Y, were born between 1981 and 1996 and grew up with the early stages of the Internet at their disposal which helped spread global information at a much faster pace (Dimock, 2019). The rise of the Internet highlighted major historical events that impacted this generational cohort like Y2K, the O.J. Simpson trial, the death of Princess Dianna, and the Columbine shooting. In 2014, the number of millennials in the United States surpassed the number of Baby Boomers (CNN, 2019) which means that younger people now make up a much larger percent of American consumers. This generation is also the second most racially and ethnically diverse, following Generation Z, which has led this demographic to be more open-minded, optimistic, and acceptant of change (Paulin, 2018).

Generation Y, or millennials, has been defined as ambitious which explains why an estimated 40% of people age 25 to 29 obtain a bachelor's degree or higher (Graf, 2017). This has created more educated consumers that are willing to do research about products before they buy them instead of focusing on brand loyalty or bargains like Baby

Boomers and the Silent Generation have done in the past. This demographic was raised in dual income or single parent households which led to them becoming more involved in family purchases like automobiles, groceries, and clothing (Generations X, Y, Z and the Others). Millennials are relationship oriented and enjoy connecting with others which has led them to make purchase decisions based on others' recommendations (Ngotngamwong, 2019). About 61% of millennials polled stated that they trust a friend's endorsement of a product, and 48% of this group say that they trust website reviews (Bedgood, 2019). Online reviews for products have become very popular among millennials because they are individualistic but group oriented which means that they want to be unique and supported by their peers' opinions (Costin, 2019). Over half of millennials also believe in climate change and that it is caused by human activity which is where we see this demographic shift to purchasing products that are environmentally responsible (Parker et al., 2019). Companies have started creating products that illustrate social responsibility or are environmentally friendly because millennials have more options than previous generations did and if they do not like a company's products they can take their business elsewhere. The number of millennials in the United States, the importance placed on education in this demographic, and the increased diversity in this group has led to more competition in the marketplace as these consumers are more specific about what benefits their products must provide (Rainer & Rainer, 2011).

Millennials have illustrated over time their desire for individualism and products that support the values that they believe in which has led many companies to focus on creating products that meet millennials' demands. Since this generation grew up with Internet access it is no surprise that this is an easy and fast way for companies to connect

with them, however they tend to prefer user generated content (Bedgood, 2019). For example, millennials strongly enjoy when companies have contests with prizes or where artists can submit their work to create content for the brand because it evokes a sense of community (Bedgood, 2019). Companies have also marketed their products to this demographic by utilizing social media influencers to create content that promotes specific products (Barker, 2020). Since millennials surpassed Baby Boomers in population, it is extremely important for companies to focus on millennials' product desires and know how to market to this demographic.

Generation Z

Generation Z is classified as people that were born between the mid-1990s and early 2000s, after the introduction of the World Wide Web (Wood, 2013). Some of the major events during their childhood include the 9/11 terrorist attacks, the introduction of the iPod, Hurricane Katrina, the 2008 recession, and the introduction of various social media platforms. Growing up with the Internet and constant upgrades to advanced technology played a major role in who these people are today because these resources helped people of all ages access global information and connect with others at a much larger rate than in the past (Wood, 2013). The access to information and research surrounding global politics, people around the world, and the environment has influenced younger generations' views on political and social issues. As a generation this group is very independent, highly connected through various communication networks, and values truth and authenticity (Francis & Hoefel, 2018).

Generation Z spends most of their money in the food/convenience store, travel, retail, and restaurant industries which means that much of their purchases are based on social gatherings and entertainment (Bedgood, 2019). While they are very independent, most of their money is spent when they are in social or group settings with friends and family. This demographic is also very concerned about the benefits products provide and how products affect them. For example, a Nielsen study found that 75% of this group is more likely to buy healthier food products if it is labeled vegan, organic, locally grown, or gluten free (Swain-Wilson, 2018). Generation Z has illustrated a strong sense of individuality which has led to them buying products as a form of self-expression (Francis & Hoefel, 2018). These traits have led this generational cohort to think differently from past generations and demand companies create products that fit consumers' needs instead of the companies' needs.

Connecting with Generation Z is the number one priority for companies today because this generation is growing rapidly and is the newest group of consumers so there is not much research about their purchase behavior yet. This generation is very skeptical of companies, and advertising must be authentic and clear to convince this demographic to use a company's products (Bedgood, 2019). They value testimonials and reviews from their peers and often go online to hear what others have to say about a product. Social media is the number one tactic that companies are using to reach out to Generation Z because while previous generations valued celebrity endorsement this demographic looks up to social media influencers who share the same values and interests (*Generations X,Y, Z and the Others*). Due to Generation Z's unique purchasing behavior and the fact that it

is getting harder for companies to connect with this group, companies must look at new ways to be authentic.

Generational Cohort Comparison

While each generation has its own unique traits, many of these generational cohorts share similar traits and consumption behaviors that lead companies to market specific products to larger target markets or utilize the same marketing techniques across various demographics. The Generational Cohort theory suggests that major historical events and social changes could have an impact on individuals' values, beliefs, and attitudes (Ivanova et al., 2019) which means that different generation cohorts could share similar consumption behaviors if they were both impacted by the same events. We see the most similarities between Baby Boomers and the Silent Generation, Generation X and Millennials, and Millennials and Generation Z.

Baby Boomers and the Silent Generation remain very traditional and support patriotism, family values, and bargains (Adams & Gay, 2019). Brands communicate with the Silent Generation and Baby Boomers through print advertisements like magazines and mail which is easier for these generations to understand (Linton, 2019). These generations spend lots of their money in the healthcare and travel industries because old age and retirement comes with health issues, but also gives people time to travel that they did not have when they were working. Both generations have lots of free time which gives them more time when researching and buying products to clip coupons, make lists, and wait to buy when the price is right (Costin, 2019).

Both Generation X and Millennials desire to see products in person, but prefer to use technology to create a faster checkout because they feel pressured for time and are constantly balancing multiple things on their plate (Costin, 2019). Generation X grew up as computers were introduced to society and new innovations were not only possible but accepted (Dimock, 2019) and millennials had the advantage of Internet access in their homes while they were growing up. Millennials have also been responsible for the adoption and use of new technology and ideas like social media sites to help connect with others on a daily basis (Vogels, 2019). Technology is constantly developing and has led to an increase in informed consumers across the globe which has made companies focus more on what the consumer wants rather than what the corporation wants to create.

Generation Z and Millennials are both socially engaged, but millennials tend to remain more optimistic about social situations while Generation Z is realistic in regards to how companies create environmentally friendly products or sustainable business practices. This is extremely important for today's corporations to consider because Gen Z makes up over 25% of the United States' population, and many people in this group come from various backgrounds which can offer more insight on social issues like companies' impact on the environment (Desjardins, 2019).

Generation Z's Consumption Behavior

While Generation Z shares some similarities with other generational cohorts, they are their own cohort and must be researched individually to determine the best way for companies to connect with this group. Pew Research has stated that Generation Z has now surpassed millennials as the most racially and ethnically diverse cohort (CNN,

2019). This has led to Generation Z having very different viewpoints than previous generations which has impacted their purchasing behavior.

Most importantly is that Generation Z tends to support companies and buy products that share similar values or concerns. In today's society, younger consumers want companies to illustrate that they care about social issues by taking a stand against issues that align with consumers' core values (Francis & Hoefel, 2018). Members of Generation Z have become more active in expressing their political views and have illustrated their desire for organizations to support the issues that consumers care about (Diaz, 2018). This generational cohort is very mistrusting which has led to about 60% of members demanding that companies be socially or ethically conscious for brands to earn the group's trust (Swain-Wilson, 2018). In a recent survey an estimated 8 out of 10 people in Generation Z stated that they would stop buying brands and spread information about companies whose campaigns came off as racist or homophobic (Francis & Hoefel, 2018). Racial equality, job creation, and environmental sustainability are three of the top issues that consumers want companies to focus on fixing (Dudharejia, 2020). Generation Z's concern regarding environmental sustainability has recently altered their purchasing behavior toward companies that illustrate a sense of responsibility for environmental issues.

Since one of Generation Z's largest concerns is about the environment and how humans have affected global warming, we have seen a decline in consumers purchasing products that are not environmentally friendly. Pew Research has used digital media to study social trends among different demographics and has illustrated the urgency in

Generation Z's desire for action against climate change. About 68% of Generation Z believes that the Earth is warming which includes the 54% of this group that believes that global warming is due to human activity (Parker et al., 2019). Recent studies have proven that consumers that are concerned about the environment are more likely to purchase ecofriendly products which has resulted in younger consumers, like Generation Z, paying more for products that benefit the environment (Datta, 2011). Companies must focus their efforts to creating marketing tactics that show their authenticity when discussing their environmental concerns because Generation Z is more skeptical than ever.

Business Solutions

This demographic's realistic take on life, care for various issues facing today's world, and their desire for companies to remain authentic has led to companies having trouble connecting with this unique generation. In this section we will look at three different solutions companies have tried to use to connect with Generation Z and illustrate their shared environmental concerns. Each solution will discuss the background of the practice, compare the advantages and disadvantages of the solution, and will include ways that companies can or have modified these strategies to connect with this generation.

Corporate Social Responsibility Definition and Background

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is defined as self-regulation by businesses through "voluntary actions... aimed at improving social or ecological conditions" (Shea & Hawn, 2019, p. 1612) in the hopes that consumers will be more trusting and loyal to the company. In "Corporate Social Responsibility" the authors stated that companies are

meant to play the role of a responsible citizen, as well as profitable tools (Tai & Chuang, 2014). This marketing tactic leads to feelings of warmth in consumers which is associated with trustworthy behaviors (Shea & Hawn, 2019). Today, Generation Z is less trusting of companies and more likely to be skeptical of the brand's actions and true motives.

Therefore, CSR has recently been utilized by various companies in hopes of connecting with younger consumers and illustrating that their company is authentic.

For centuries, there has been a social component in corporate behavior due to the influence of Roman laws, Christian religious philosophy, and allegiance to the English crown (Latapí Agudelo et al., 2019). However, the modern ideology of CSR emerged in the 1950s and 1960s after Howard Bowen expressed the idea that large corporations concentrated great power and had an impact on society (Bowen, 2013). The idea that companies needed to participate to fix social and environmental issues was strengthened by the protest culture and environmental movement in America in the 1960s (Coughlin, 2018). In the 1970s, many of today's well known and respected corporations like Ben & Jerry's and the Body Shop were founded with a purpose to impact public and social issues (Latapí Agudelo et al., 2019). While there has always been a need for companies to focus on society, the mid-twentieth century is where we saw society start to demand companies focus on societal issues that impacted consumers.

Today younger consumers, like Generation Z, are focused on what companies can do to combat social or environmental issues and use their brand for good. Business News Daily interviewed Katie Schmidt, the founder and lead designer of Pasion Lilie, where she stated that positive public image is critical for a company's success because it creates

a name for you company while illustrating authenticity (Schooley, 2019). It has also been stated that CSR has been used throughout the years for companies to gain and maintain legitimacy with stakeholders, society, and regulators (Matten & Moon, 2020). While companies use this marketing tactic to build stronger relationships with consumers, it has been used to demonstrate to stakeholders and the government that the company is committed to making a difference. Matten and Moon suggest that CSR gives regulators a positive image of these companies which would make them more likely to use these products in the private sector (Matten & Moon, 2020).

Advantages and Disadvantages

One of the strongest advantages for companies when reflecting that they are socially responsible is the impact that it has on consumer's purchasing behavior. Recently Cone Communications researched consumers thoughts and feelings towards CSR where 90% of the consumers surveyed stated that they would purchase a product if the company supported an issue they cared about and 75% of those surveyed said that they would refuse to buy a product if the company supports issues that the consumer does not believe in (Schooley, 2019). This proves that companies using CSR to build stronger relationships with consumers is working, and that if they do illustrate what their company is doing to combat these issues consumers will be more likely to buy the company's products.

Today one of the biggest issues concerning Generation Z, the newest group of consumers marketers need to reach, is climate change and how society can become more sustainable. In 2014 the Nielsen Global Survey on Corporate Social Responsibility polled 30,000 consumers from 60 different countries to see how consumers purchasing decisions

have been affected by companies' sustainable practices. The poll illustrated that 55% of consumers were willing to spend more money on a product or service from a company that has committed themselves to creating a positive social and environmental impact, and that 52% of consumers check the packaging of a product for the sustainable impact that it has on the environment (*It Pays To Be Green*, 2014).

Another reason companies have started using CSR is because it saves them money while creating a positive public image. Many studies have shown a positive correlation between CSR programs and a company's public image (Edmondson, 2019). For example, numerous companies start to create socially responsible changes by switching to greener sources of energy. In the United States 40% of energy is used for heating, cooling, lighting, and appliance operation (Ward, 2020b) which has led many companies to use alternative sources of energy like solar energy. These various alternatives may cost money upfront, but end up saving the company money in the long run (J. Wang, 2020) while still illustrating a positive corporate image.

However, while CSR is meant for companies to illustrate an authentic commitment to combat environmental issues, some consumers see it as a way for companies to cover up their previous wrongdoings and gain more mistrust for the brand (Wans, 2020). It did not take long for companies to realize that supporting greener business practices, eco-friendly products, etc. combined with a great marketing team could result in consumers having a more positive idea of multinational corporations and increase profits for the companies (Chakrabarty & Wang, 2013). Today many companies believe that running a one-time marketing campaign will illustrate that their corporation

is responsible, but consumers' mistrust in companies has led them to demand companies prove that they are actually implementing responsible practices in their day to day operations (Schooley, 2019). This unfortunately does not exemplify authenticity, which is extremely important for Generation Z.

Another disadvantage when using this tactic is that many companies do not care much about helping solve these issues and simply donate money to any charity with the hopes that it will make their company seem socially responsible (Schooley, 2019). This problem can be defined as corporate social irresponsibility, CSI, because it seems as if individuals or companies are acting solely for profits (Shea & Hawn, 2019). Unfortunately, with any successful marketing campaign there are companies that try to imitate the tactic in an easier or cheaper way. Many companies try to trick consumers into believing that they are socially responsible by donating money while making no substantial changes to their business practices, products, or company's values (Schooley, 2019). This has furthered Generation Z's mistrust for companies because this does not present an authentic representation of their values and ethics. This generation's growing mistrust has forced companies to conduct research and determine what steps they can take that align with the company's core values and ethics in order to build trustworthy relationships with consumers (Latapí Agudelo et al., 2019). Since Generation Z is more likely to purchase products from an authentic company, it is essential for companies to use CSR in a way that demonstrates the company's values and long-term commitment to sustainability.

Corporate hypocrisy is another disadvantage that companies have seen when trying to implement CSR into their day-to-day operations. Corporate hypocrisy is consumers' belief that corporations make false claims that they are something they are not in order to mislead consumers (Losada-Otálora & Alkire (née Nasr), 2019). As companies have implemented CSR into their businesses to allude to their concern for environmental issues, many have faced backlash due to scandals that prove otherwise (Arli et al., 2019). For example, recently energy companies have tried to run campaigns that demonstrate that they are switching to alternative forms of energy to power their facilities, but they are still a company that sells oil and gas (Cherry & Sneirson, 2011). When companies try to illustrate that they are socially responsible or have a desire to protect the environment, but their mission or actions do not support these beliefs consumers become skeptical of the company's authenticity. This disadvantage can negatively impact consumers' purchasing decisions because this lack of trust for an organization can overshadow company's unique characteristics (Arli et al., 2019). Due to Generation Z's lack of trust for larger corporations and the disadvantages of this practice, there has been a rise in beliefs that companies do not genuinely care about combatting issues like global warming.

Suggested Modifications to Corporate Social Responsibility

Due to Generation Z's lack of trust in companies, brands must find a better way to illustrate that their concerns are authentic. One of the main ways companies have done this is by breaking down their plans to commit themselves to social or environmental change. In 2011 less than 20% of S&P 500 companies published reports that outlined their efforts to be socially responsible, but by 2017 an estimated 86% of these

corporations had published reports (Edmondson, 2019). Since we have seen the advantages that CSR provides companies and consumers, this is still a reasonable marketing tactic to use if companies modify the practice so that they can earn Generation Z's trust.

One of the first ways that companies have started to revamp CSR is by illustrating that they are fully committed and that protecting the environment is a long-term goal for the company. While Subaru does not have many models of an environmentally friendly car, they have illustrated for over a decade that they are committed to lessening their environmental impact by implementing a zero waste practice in their factories (Markham, 2015). Subaru's main manufacturing plant in North America, located in Indiana, was the first ever automobile assembly plant to achieve a zero landfill assembly process ("Committed to Zero," 2017). This corporation illustrated their commitment to minimizing the amount of waste their plants produced by reusing every material possible and recycling was considered the last alternative to dispose of these materials (Farzad, 2011). During this time the company has also promoted the marketing campaign "Who We Are Is What We Leave Behind" which has aligned this commitment to be socially responsible with the company's core values of producing products that are durable ("Committed to Zero," 2017). This campaign has seen success with Subaru's customers because their consumers have been classified as outdoors people who are concerned about maintaining our natural environment which has helped the company maintain a loyal customer base ("Committed to Zero," 2017). The company has also revamped CSR by creating an environment where they can encourage their employees, consumers, and other businesses to contribute to these environmental issues by sharing their knowledge

of the zero landfill process with others (Easterday, 2020). Companies like Subaru have succeeded in proving to Generation Z that their environmental concerns are authentic because they have illustrated their commitment to implement sustainable business practices over a long period of time that align with the company's and consumers' values.

However, one of the most effective changes companies have implemented in this marketing tactic is focusing on how they can illustrate their values when creating their products rather than focusing solely on profits. In the 1980s, the World Commission on Environment and Development released the Brundtland Report which justified the importance for sustainability development and connected it to the well-being of society since humans depended on the environment's resources to survive (Turcsanyi & Sisaye, 2013). This report was quickly accepted by companies like Johnson & Johnson who use the Design for the Environment, DfE, process to determine potential environmental issues with their products during the development stage (Iannuzzi & Haviland, 2006). This form of CSR has seen success among consumers because companies can only fix the problems they know a product has, so instead of waiting for consumers to point out issues when the product is introduced to the market companies have spent more money to research and alter the product during the development stage. This has largely benefitted companies because they do not have as many controversies and do not have to address a problem with the product after it is introduced which has created a positive public image for the company (Iannuzzi & Haviland, 2006). While many consumers may not know that Johnson & Johnson is taking the extra step when developing their product, the company's products have continuously illustrated the company's environmental concerns and core values through the product's features and environmental benefits. This has

greatly led Generation Z to believe that the company is more authentic because companies are not being told to be environmentally responsible by consumers, but instead thinking about their impact on the environment when creating their products.

While the disadvantages to CSR have furthered Generation Z's mistrust for companies, these changes that have been made to CSR have gained consumers' attention. Companies need to implement long term solutions to become more sustainable and develop products that focus on environmental concerns if they want any chance to prove to consumers that they are serious about combatting climate change. These corporations mentioned have recently seen success with their changes to CSR which has proved that more companies will succeed in illustrating that their values are authentic if they adopt these modifications to the practice.

Green Marketing Definition and Background

Green marketing has been utilized by companies for many years but pertains to a vast array of meanings. One source defines green marketing as the process of marketing a product to consumers by highlighting the environmental benefits the product provides (Ward, 2020a). In this definition, Ward suggests that green marketing is used by companies who create products that have environmentally friendly features like how Nike has started to create products that use post-consumer recycled materials (10 Global Companies That Are Environmentally Friendly, 2016). However, other sources include in their definition that this practice is how companies market their values and environmental concerns to their target market (Trandafilovic et al., 2017). As Generation Z has become more skeptical on companies' authenticity, companies have started to use this tactic to

illustrate to consumers that they truly care about environmental concerns. IBM has used green marketing to market their shared values with consumers by implementing sustainable business practices like working in smart buildings that save resources, utilizing water resource management, and more (10 Global Companies That Are Environmentally Friendly, 2016). Recently, the focus of this process has been to demonstrate to consumers that companies care about the environment in the hopes that they can sell their products at a higher price (Trandafilovic et al., 2017).

Green marketing began in the 1960s, when the environmental movement in America started to gain momentum and companies began to aim their marketing campaigns at possible solutions for these varying problems (Trandafilovic et al., 2017). The 1970s, intensified consumers' desire for change (Coughlin, 2018) and more companies saw how green marketing could target environmentally conscious consumers (Trandafilovic et al., 2017). While companies started to use this tactic to gain consumers' trust decades before, the term 'green marketing' was not seen in literature until the early 1980s (Trandafilovic et al., 2017). During the 1990s, academics started to discuss green marketing with the hopes to better understand this practice, but they determined that more research was required on consumer needs and the promotion stage of this practice (Rex & Baumann, 2007). In 2007, green marketing saw a large jump in usage by companies after 2,400 trademark requests were filed for terms that used the word 'green' and 900 trademarks that contained the word 'eco' (Rex & Baumann, 2007).

While there are various definitions for the term 'green marketing', they all tie marketing efforts to environmental issues (Rex & Baumann, 2007). This practice was

used to create a more positive image for consumers that care about issues impacting our environment, but there are some advantages and disadvantages due to how this practice has been implemented. Since Generation Z's consumption behavior is centered around the idea that companies should be socially or environmentally responsible, it is important for companies to focus on the advantages and disadvantages that come with green marketing before evaluating how they can modify this process to connect with this generational cohort.

Advantages and Disadvantages

Green marketing, when it was introduced, was a major technique that larger corporations started using mainly to persuade a consumer to buy their good, service, or idea based on the environmental benefits the product provided (Polonsky, 1994).

Advertising companies and business moguls highlighted the differences that their product had that made it eco-friendly, more sustainable, easy to recycle, etc. At the beginning, green marketing was used by companies who were committed to developing sustainable products and CSR (Ward, 2020a). This practice was quickly adapted because companies realized that it was a fast way to improve their reputation and create brand loyalty with environmentally conscious consumers (Rex & Baumann, 2007). As Generation Z has become a large group of consumers in the market and has expressed their environmental concerns, companies have tried to utilize green marketing to earn this cohort's trust and loyalty to the brand.

While this practice has been used to market companies' products and values to consumers, it has also benefitted the brands who have used the tactic. Many companies have adopted green marketing because using greener business practices like-reducing

packaging, using recycled office supplies, switching to renewable or eco-friendly energy sources to power their factories and offices, and finding newer ways to make transportation of their products more efficient- because it can reduce their expenses while creating a positive public image (Tripathi & Monga, 2011). Studies have shown that consumers react more positively to green marketing and have an increased sense of brand loyalty to companies that illustrate a sense of social responsibility regarding topics that consumers are concerned with, like sustainability (Tai & Chuang, 2014). Utilizing this tactic can give brands an advantage in the marketplace because adults consider a product's environmental benefits when making a purchase decision (Rex & Baumann, 2007). Green marketing also allows companies to raise the price on their products, whether it is due to the increased cost of the research and development stages or for the simple fact that they are selling their product at the 'green price' (Trandafilovic et al., 2017). This creates a win-win-win situation for companies because normally the greener practices save money for the company in the long run, increase profit margins due to the product's environmental benefits, and companies are able to sell more of the product because they can market in a positive light to consumers.

However, when businesses realized how profitable this market could be companies started using this practice by making false claims to trick consumers into buying their products. For many companies the "cost of 'greenness" does not fit into the short-term budgets because establishing greener practices can be very expensive to setup even if it will save the company money in the long term (Ward, 2020a). This leads them to use green marketing even if their products or services are not actually better for the environment in any way. This is known as green washing where a company may convey

a false impression about their products by providing misleading information about the product or their company (Tinne, 2013). While there are various forms of green washing, most of these companies make claims about their product or service that are partly true but exaggerate or embellish the claims to deceive people into buying their products.

Greenwashing is an attempt to capitalize on consumers' desire for environmentally friendly products. The term was coined in the 1960s after the hotel industry illustrated one of the simplest examples by putting signs in guests' hotel rooms asking them to reuse their towels (Tinne, 2013). The hotels were the only winners because they saved on laundry costs while also fooling customers into believing that they were doing this solely because they cared about the environment. Today, we can see examples of greenwashing with conventional energy companies which are also some of the world's largest carbon emitters (Cherry & Sneirson, 2011). They rebrand themselves as "champions of the environment" (Kenton, 2020) when all they do is rename, rebrand, or repackage the same product without changing any aspects of the product. The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) lists some examples of greenwashing that include: labeling a plastic package containing a plastic product "recyclable" because it is not stated if the product or the packaging can be recycled, labeling trash bags "recyclable" because trash bags are not separated from the trash so they will most likely end up in a landfill, and a product stating that it is more recyclable than it was before because it could have jumped from only 2% to 3% more recyclable (Kenton, 2020).

Green marketing can backfire on the company if they are not 100% truthful in their marketing of the goods and services that they produce. For example, after the Gulf

oil spill Dawn released commercials stating that "Dawn helps save wildlife" by showing videos of them cleaning off ducklings that were covered in oil (Kaufman, 2010). However, after these commercials aired it was revealed that their product contains an ingredient called Triclosan which was officially declared as a toxin for wildlife (Tatarazako et al., 2004). Another case where greenwashing had a devastating impact on a company's image is SeaWorld. While the company has already faced backlash for other environmental concerns, it received criticism for their "Cup that Cares" that they released in 2013. The idea of the cup was supposed to be a product that visitors of the park could buy and then refill later, so that it would reduce carbon emissions and waste. However, the cup and all the accessories that consumers could purchase for the cup were plastic (Ward, 2020a). Everyone knows that a person will not keep that cup for the rest of their life and at some point it will most likely end up in a landfill. Due to companies using green washing as a shortcut to attract consumers, it has created more skepticism among younger generations who do not believe that companies are authentic when combatting environmental concerns.

Another disadvantage when using this tactic is that it is difficult to stay current in our ever-changing environment. While there are new environmental concerns addressed and changes in the market daily, there is a constant need for change in marketing which can make it difficult for companies to keep up with their competitors (Suttle, 2020). However, the constant strive for new ideas also provides companies with plenty of opportunities to use green marketing while putting their own spin on green solutions (Tripathi & Monga, 2011). While green marketing has previously been very useful creating brand loyalty and increasing profit margins, its disadvantages have fueled

Generation Z's lack of trust in companies that express environmental concerns. Due to this generational cohort's mistrust for green marketing campaigns, companies must adjust how they utilize this practice to illustrate that their concerns are authentic.

Suggested Modifications to Green Marketing

Green marketing was a major method for companies to illustrate their social responsibility to consumers in the 1990s and early 2000s, however it has been strongly criticized due to its overuse and misuse by companies that have tried to mislead consumers on how beneficial their products are to the cause and what their company stands for (Prody, 2016). As we can see green marketing brought green washing which resulted in society's distrust of larger corporations and consumers' skepticism of ecofriendly products or marketing campaigns (Aji & Sutikno, 2015). Since we have seen that Generation Z is the group that companies need to cater to and they have showed a trend in aligning themselves with companies committed to practicing global sustainability, it is necessary to study new ideas that can help a company become more socially responsible (Singh, 2014). If companies want to target a new generation of spenders they need to look at everything from more efficient marketing campaigns to new environmentally friendly business practices.

One way companies have modified this practice is by accepting the impact that they have on the environment and being more open with customers on how they are trying to combat environmental issues (10 Global Companies That Are Environmentally Friendly, 2016). For example, SC Johnson has played a major role in illustrating how companies can make responsible changes that benefit the environment for personal reasons and not just to create a marketing campaign (Haveman & Dorfman, 1999). The

company, founded in 1886, manufactures household items and cleaning supplies which makes it a very familiar brand among all types of consumers. However, they have stated that their focus on the environment is due to the company's core values and not just to rebrand their products toward consumers (Alston & Roberts, 1999). They have devoted themselves to using alternative fuel sources, reducing greenhouse gasses released from their factories, and encouraging their customers to become socially responsible. The company relies on Greenlist, which was developed with input from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Forum for the Future, to classify raw materials used in their products based on the impact that these materials have on human health and the environment (Canter, 2006). While using this process the company has eliminated "more than 61 million pounds of volatile organic compounds from its products by enhancing biodegradability and improving the packaging of their products" (SC Johnson and the environment). The company has spent the last two decades trying to decrease the amount of greenhouse gasses released from their seven largest factories across the world and other factories in the United States (Geiselman, 2008). This is being accomplished by using wind turbines to help power various factories in the United States and they are even testing cogeneration turbines in Racine, Wisconsin where their headquarters are located. Since the cogeneration turbine was installed at their headquarters in 2003 it is reported to have eliminated 52,000 tons of greenhouse gas emissions from this plant annually (SC Johnson and the environment). The company has also created a system where they combine products on truckloads to create a more efficient delivery process while reducing their fuel waste (Geiselman, 2008). This company has made major progress in their goal, received numerous awards including multiple World Environment Center

Gold Medals ("SC Johnson to Receive World Environment Center's 2015 Gold Medal Award for Sustainable Development Achievements," 2014), and gained consumers' trust by modifying this outdated practice. This company has illustrated that by committing to a long-term plan companies can modify green marketing to make it a more efficient practice that connects with Generation Z.

Another company that has modified green marketing to illustrate to consumers that their environmental concerns are authentic is Ford. In recent years many automobile companies have created their own version of an electric car and have used green marketing to highlight the product's environmental benefits (Deal III, 2010). However, many of these cars have faced backlash for various reasons while Ford has proved their authenticity by implementing a long-term green marketing plan. The company has committed \$11 billion to produce 40 models of green vehicles, electric and hybrid, by 2022 in order to reduce their environmental footprint (Carey & White, 2018). The company has also pledged to use only renewable energy to power their manufacturing plants by 2035, and plans to get rid of single use plastic by 2030 in order to achieve zero waste across all of the company's operations (Fehrenbacher, 2020). One of the biggest changes to their product line is the creation of the Mustang Mach-E and the all-electric Ford F-150, which have made two of their best-selling models environmentally friendly (Johnson, 2020). With many consumers buying these models for the appearance or because they are perceived as cool, the environmental benefits do not take away from what attracts consumers to these cars. While Generation Z has previously lacked trust in companies' green marketing campaigns, Ford's plan to launch dozens of models of ecofriendly cars has illustrated to consumers that their concerns on climate change run deeper than a superficial level.

However, one of the most efficient companies at modifying green marketing and earning consumers' trust is Patagonia because they have created a brand that focuses on sustainability before selling their products. Patagonia, a California based company, focuses on selling outdoor products from apparel to equipment while combatting environmental issues (Michel et al., 2019). They have become a leader in authentic green marketing because Yvon Chouinard founded the company in 1973 with the purpose of attracting customers that shared an interest in exploring and protecting our environment (Feloni, 2018). While most companies focus on developing new products every season to increase their profit margins, Patagonia has continuously created durable products that they encourage customers to use for as long as possible. One of the company's most notable campaigns is the "Don't Buy This Jacket" campaign which encourages customers to use the company's repair services, so that they generate profits by fixing existing products while decreasing the amount of apparel waste produced annually (Hwang et al., 2016). A few years ago, Chouinard decided to change the company's mission statement to read "We're in business to save the planet" (Feloni, 2018) because he wanted his mission to promote a responsibility to proactively do good for the environment (Salpini, 2019). In the fall of 2018, the company's CEO furthered this mission by pledging the \$10 million Patagonia received in tax cuts to environmental charities (Feloni, 2018). One of the biggest changes the company made was in their marketing campaign in order to encourage consumers to act. Until recently the company had never ran a TV advertisement that promoted their products, so they used their first ad to persuade

consumers to join the fight against the Trump administration who is currently attempting to eliminate a large portion of public lands (Salpini, 2019). Patagonia has demonstrated that their concerns to create environmentally friendly products and maintain sustainable business practices is authentic because their company has used its marketing campaigns to encourage their customers to act against current issues and reuse their existing products.

For this practice to work efficiently companies must support issues that align with the company's core values. The reason Patagonia, Ford, and SC Johnson have succeeded in green marketing is because they have illustrated to consumers that their company is dedicated to doing good for the environment because they truly care about environmental issues. While Generation Z has become less trusting of companies' green marketing campaigns, these companies have illustrated how this practice can be modified so that it is still an efficient marketing tactic.

Social Innovation

Definition and Background

Social innovation has been defined as innovative activities or products that are designed to meet a social need and driven by businesses, politics, and government organizations (Mulgan et al., 2007). The European Union broadens this term by stating that social innovation is meant to persuade society to act (Gregg et al., 2020). This practice is meant to create products in response to social movements based on shared collective behaviors (Gregg et al., 2020). Social innovation has become an interesting tactic used by companies to connect with consumers because it was not widely used until after CSR and green marketing failed to illustrate authentic sustainability practices. While

the previous practices were used to take advantage of customers by making claims that were not necessarily true, social innovation is a practice that requires social means and ends (Mulgan et al., 2007). This tactic has resulted in creative ideas that meet society's or consumers' needs that had not previously been met by other products (Mulgan et al., 2007). While social innovation has mainly been used to combat the disadvantages that came with CSR and green marketing, it has also been a great way for companies to maintain a truthful marketing campaign with consumers.

Social innovation has seen a rise in recent decades due to various problems from limited resources, social class gaps, and much more which has led to the increase in consumers' desire to see companies create change with their products (McGowan & Westley, 2015). Innovation has been around since the Stone Age and inventions have helped shape our society, economy, and politics. Centuries ago, artists created pieces meant to cause disruptive change and forced their audience to consider other viewpoints (McGowan & Westley, 2015). Various forms of technology have been used throughout history to make life easier which had deemed social innovation to be as old as mankind (Aksoy et al., 2019). However, it was not until recently that consumers saw a rise in companies using social innovation to lessen their impact on the environment and create sustainable business models (Slavin, 2013). Prior to this practice many companies used business innovation which focused on maximizing profits and beating out their competition (Gregg et al., 2020). The introduction of new technology and the rise of social media gave consumers the power to demand change from companies which resulted in a shift from business innovation to social innovation (Slavin, 2013). In 2015, The Global Shapers Annual Survey determined that 60% of millennials' most important requirement when job searching is that the company is making a difference in society (Aksoy et al., 2019). Since environmental concerns have become one of the most concerning issues for today's society, consumers have valued companies that use this practice to create sustainable business practices and greener products.

While some products are genuinely green, greenwashing has ruined the aspect of green marketing for all companies and has forced them to look at new and innovative ways to illustrate and practice their social responsibility. Companies like Amazon have sections on their website dedicated to helping consumers recycle the packaging their products come in and where they have a chance to recycle, return, or trade in items that they no longer want (Amazon Second Chance, 2020). However, the company has faced backlash due to their business practices like Amazon prime shipping. While the brand has tried to implement green marketing campaigns and CSR, their two day shipping guarantee for prime members has increased their carbon emissions and drastically impacted the environment (Nguyen, 2019). As we have seen more companies face backlash for the disadvantages of CSR and green marketing, many companies have started to use social innovation to connect with younger consumers who have less trust in companies' environmental concerns.

Advantages and Disadvantages

One of the strongest advantages to social innovation is that it promotes growth and development for companies (Pio, 2018). While this practice is used to create products that are more sustainable or to attract consumers to the brand, it also results in companies focusing on creating newer/updated versions of their current products to give them a competitive advantage. This practice also allows companies to involve their employees

and the community in various steps of inventing new products or upgrading existing products (Blagoycheva, 2019). Local citizens play an important role in social innovation by providing information or resources and influencing decisions. When social innovation actually involves society to create products that could combat environmental issues companies receive a new perspective that helps them work out the issues with their product (Blagoycheva, 2019). This practice has been successful with Generation Z because while this cohort is very mistrusting of companies' intentions they appreciate being included in the process of developing new products and are able to see how companies are combatting climate change by breaking down their products or business models.

Social innovation can also put companies above their competition and increase their profit margins. Investment in research and development results in innovations that generate long-term economic growth (Pio, 2018). Recent polls demonstrated that consumers under the age of 25 have stated that they are more likely to consider environmental and ethical aspects of a company when making a purchase decision (Aksoy et al., 2019). As we have seen younger consumers dig deeper into what a company values, this practice has helped companies build stronger social relationships with consumers that have strong environmental concerns (Blagoycheva, 2019). Service enterprises that use social innovation to reflect environmental concerns and sustainable business practices have illustrated that they are in a better position than their competitors that do not support consumers' values (Aksoy et al., 2019). Recently we have seen that companies that utilize this practice are more prepared to compete on a global stage and have an easier time connecting with their target market (Joseph, 2018). As social

innovation is implemented into today's business practices, companies have seen an increase in profit margins and positive public image due to consumers' environmental concerns and growing demand for companies to act.

Companies may also see disadvantages with this practice because while they are trailblazers in their field they may face limited resources and backlash from consumers (Jaeger-Erben et al., 2015). While social innovation can increase profit margins for larger corporations, it can be very expensive to invest in the research and development stages that are necessary to create these products (Joseph, 2018). For example, when companies like Tesla started to make electric cars people in big cities were intrigued and bought them fast due to their environmental benefits. However, these automobile manufacturers could not build charging stations across the United States as fast as their product was selling (Deaton, 2019). Consumers have also reacted negatively to some forms of social innovation because as new products are introduced there is always a trial and error stage where problems are found with the invention, especially in technology (Jaeger-Erben et al., 2015). Another issue with this lack of resources is that consumers tend to regress to their old ways or products. In 2019, gas stations outnumbered electric charging stations 7:1 (Deaton, 2019) which resulted in many potential customers rethinking their purchase decision. Unfortunately, these issues cause some consumers to view the brand in a negative light and go back to using older products that they consider easier to use. As early adopters have used social innovation to create the next big thing and solve social issues like global warming, there have been many companies that have been forced to eliminate their products due to the lack of resources or rejection of the products in consumer markets.

With today's unstable political environment, it is up to companies to use social innovation to solve environmental problems that concern consumers (Holliday, 2019). Since this practice has just recently been utilized by larger companies, we have not yet seen many long-term consequences or effects. However, since there have been many disadvantages when companies use CSR and green marketing there has been a large shift to social innovation because it can prove companies' authenticity.

Suggested Modifications to Social Innovation

While social innovation has had various advantages, the negative side effects led to younger consumers viewing this as companies' way to create profits or gain consumers' trust and not because they are truly concerned. Since Generation Z is concerned about the authenticity in companies' environmental concerns, companies must modify this practice to illustrate that they share consumer's concerns and are committed to do everything they can to limit their impact on the environment.

In the United States, over 8 million tons of food is wasted annually and this does not count all the packaging that the food comes in, which The Environmental Protection Agency states makes up approximately 23% of waste in landfills (Brinkley, 2018). Refed, a nonprofit organization in the United States, dedicates itself to combating food waste and stated that the food wasted each year in the U.S. leads to \$18.2 billion of lost value for grocers (Brinkley, 2018). Packaging waste, especially plastic, is facing backlash and has even led to some states, like California, to ban plastic bags or create fees on these items (Wagner, 2017). This has led to a wave of zero waste markets popping up around the United States and other countries. For example, New York has The Filling Station that sells customers refillable containers containing olive oil, vinegar, beer, etc.

(Brinkley, 2018). These shops have been proven to be very efficient for specialty shops that focus on specific target markets. However, zero waste markets are having some trouble gaining momentum in places like the United States, especially in the food industry, because customers want to shop where there is convenience and if we cannot convince suppliers to change their packaging customers will still have plenty of options that are not eco-friendly (Beitzen-Heineke et al., 2017). Other countries around the world have had much more success due to more open minds among consumers. The markets that are thriving illustrate to companies that it may be easier to start zero waste stores that focus on specific items, like hygiene items and cleaning supplies, by selling a bulk size container and offering a lower price when they come in to refill their products. Zero waste markets are an innovative solution that can save companies money by minimizing the disposal, energy, and employment costs (Brinkley, 2018) which can be attractive to younger consumers who align with these values.

One company that has seen major success using social innovation is Tesla. The company's CEO, Elon Musk, has outlined a vision that focuses on transforming global energy grids and creating products that are environmentally friendly (Matousek, 2018). While electric cars are no new concept, Tesla saw a need for cars that are not only environmentally friendly but can also excite consumers in a way that most automobile companies had not been able to do. Companies like Tesla have their fair share of supporters, but also a large group of people who deem that their company will fail which is actually benefitting the company because they are still relevant in consumers' minds (Furr & Dyer, 2020). While the large company may have some bad press, they are still being talked about and have been an example of social innovation for a long time. A

recent survey recorded that many consumers prefer a new brand like Tesla because they are innovative and most respondents stated that the company positively influenced their perception of battery electric vehicles (Long et al., 2019). In the first quarter of 2020, the company was the highest performing automobile company in sales growth, total revenue, and long-term shareholder value (Furr & Dyer, 2020). This company has modified social innovation to illustrate their authentic environmental concerns and desire to create technological advancements because they have demonstrated through their innovation that these forces drive them more than the idea of selling cars or making a profit. Due to Tesla's position in the market and their constant production of newer/better models of their already eco-friendly cars, they have earned a large portion of younger consumers' trust, including Generation Z.

New Belgium Brewing Co. has also seen success by using social innovation to express their concerns about global warming and creating more sustainable products. This company was the largest brewing company in Colorado and the fourth largest brewing company in the United States before they announced in 2019 that they were selling their company to Lion Little World Beverages, an Australian based company (Sexton, 2019). One of the main reasons this company has seen major success in the previous decades is due to their passion for the environment and long-term commitment to create sustainable business practices. They have proved this passion to consumers by creating the largest private solar array in Colorado at their Fort Collins brewery, which can power the assembly line for up to 8 hours on a sunny day (Eng, 2014). In 2009, the company redesigned their packaging for almost all of their 12 packs so that it would eliminate over 150 tons of cardboard and 174 metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions

annually ("Fat Tire Packaging," 2009). That same year they committed to install \$4 million to energy load-shedding and on-site generation technology and processes (GreenerDesign Staff, 2009). In a 2014 interview Kim Jordan, co-founder of the New Belgium Brewing Company, stated that it was her husband's dream to start the business but when he left in 2001 she stayed because she enjoyed being an advocate for progressive business thinking (Eng, 2014). The company also partnered with almost two dozen organizations to form the U.S. Recycling Glass Coalition to make glass recycling more efficient in the United States (Crowell, 2016). When asked about Lion Little World Beverages' purchase of the company Jordan stated that the reason they ultimately chose to sell to their company was because the Australian based company promised to continue the company's long-time commitment to sustainability. The New Belgium Brewing Co. is another example of an organization that saw success when using social innovation because they illustrated to consumers that their innovation was purely driven by their desire to create new products while remaining sustainable.

These corporations are just some examples of companies that have modified social innovation to be more efficient when expressing their environmental concerns to Generation Z. While this practice has seen success and little disadvantages, so far, it is important for companies to understand that this cohort is very skeptical of innovative practices. Many members of this demographic have felt that companies' tactics are not authentic due to the failures and disadvantages of CSR and green marketing. As Generation Z searches for more authentic companies, we have seen a major adoption of social innovation by companies who have illustrated a long-term dedication to combatting climate change and a desire to be more sustainable.

Conclusion

Generation Z's purchasing behaviors are vastly different from previous generations' purchasing behaviors. While this generational cohort shares some similarities with previous cohorts, this demographic's purchasing behavior has proved the generational cohort theory correct. Major events and social changes, like Generation Z's environmental concerns, have impacted this group's purchasing behavior. As environmental concerns have become more important for younger generations, companies have shifted their marketing tactics to support various practices that illustrate their desire to create sustainable business practices. However, Generation Z is less trusting of large corporations and as they pursue authentic brands companies have scrambled to adjust their marketing practices.

In this thesis we sought to understand how Generation Z's environmental concerns impacted their purchasing behavior. First, we researched global warming and consumption practices to understand how and why consumption has increased throughout time. Then we studied five different generations' consumption behaviors to illustrate how Generation Z differed from previous generational cohorts. We focused on how this demographic supports brands that are socially or ethically responsible due to their concerns regarding companies' carbon footprint. Then we compared three different practices that companies have used to illustrate their desire to be environmentally friendly and how these practices have worked overtime. Finally, we looked at how companies have modified these practices to be more authentic when illustrating their environmental concerns to Generation Z. We determined that all three practices worked efficiently but

had some disadvantages and needed to be modified if companies wanted to build stronger relationships with consumers from Generation Z.

In conclusion Generation Z is very mistrusting of companies and is more focused on how companies are combatting issues younger consumers care about, like climate change. In this thesis we looked at three different business practices that have been used to combat climate change and gain consumers' trust. Each tactic has worked but had some disadvantages that led to some companies failing to connect with this demographic. Socially responsible and greener companies have recently tried to modify these practices in order to be more authentic in their day to day operations and long-term goals. While these modifications have proven to be successful, there are some research limitations and areas for further research.

Research Limitations

Unfortunately, there were some limitations to our study due to the lack of research for this generational cohort. Generation Z is very new to the market, with the oldest consumer at 23 years old and the youngest consumer is 8 years old. Since this generation is so young and only a portion of the group has started to make their own purchase decisions, there has not been as much research on their purchase behavior compared to older generations. Not much is known about the older half of Generation Z, but nothing is known about the younger half of this cohort's purchase behavior because they are still so young. The younger half of this demographic still lives at home where their parents make the majority, if not all, of their purchase decisions for them. As the oldest of this generational cohort has taken companies by surprise and led them to scramble in how

they would alter their marketing techniques it is important that they continue to research this group in order to understand Generation Z's needs.

This thesis is also limited by the stereotypes that demographers have placed on these generational cohorts. Believing that every person in these demographics behave the same way or have the same traits, is very naïve for companies. Companies are unintentionally stereotyping consumers by assuming that they will make purchase decisions in the same way someone else from this generation would. Generational Cohort Theory hypothesized that individuals are grouped together after they experience the same historical events and social changes over time. There is no way to say that a Baby Boomer and a Millennial will not make the same purchase decisions because they both experienced events like 9/11. Even if these groups experienced this event during different stages of their lives it still impacted their personal values and behavior. While many individuals in a cohort share similar traits and behaviors, this thesis is limited by assuming that members from Generation Z will not share similar traits or purchase behaviors with previous generations.

Another limitation to this thesis is that it does not take outside factors or other demographics into account. While we have looked at Generation Z's consumption behaviors we have not broken this generational cohort down by class, race, gender, etc. While research shows that many people would pay more for a product, there are other factors that play a role in consumers' behavior. For example, consumers who come from low income communities may not make a purchase decision the same way as other members of Generation Z. While this group focuses on products' environmental benefits,

some consumers do not have the money to afford greener products. This is important to consider in our research because many members of Generation Z are in school and/or work minimum wage jobs. Some members of this group may also be impacted by cultural traditions passed down from previous generations. Without considering this limitation, we can only study Generation Z as a whole and cannot understand different demographics within this generational cohort.

Further Research

While this thesis has focused on studying how companies can alter marketing tactics to earn Generation Z's trust, there is room for further research in this field. One step could dive further into Generation Z's purchase behaviors to determine what other factors have an impact on their purchasing decisions. This step includes looking at how this cohort's race, ethnicity, class, etc. may impact them differently than previous generations. There is also a large age gap between the oldest members of this generation and the youngest members which has created room for research on the younger half of this group which has not yet expressed their purchasing behaviors. Since the younger portion of this group is still having their parents make most of the household's purchasing decisions, companies do not know what the future holds for Generation Z's purchasing behavior. In the past few years companies have illustrated that they do not know much about this generational cohort which means that they must do more research on the group if they want to reach this target market.

Another topic to keep in mind is that Generation Z is no longer the youngest generational cohort which means that there will be a new group of consumers entering the market in a few years. The next group of consumers that will enter the market is

Generation Alpha (individuals born between 2010 and 2024). Researchers assume that social media will play a large role in defining this group's characteristics, but only time and research will provide companies with answers on how Generation Alpha will act as consumers. As we have seen companies were not prepared when Generation Z became its own group of consumers, so they must start researching the next generation's values and habits now in order to know how to market to them before they become the next big target market.

Finally, one of the biggest topics that has potential for further research is marketing strategies that work for multiple generational cohorts. While the practices that we discussed have seen some success among multiple cohorts, there are different aspects of these practices that may attract or repulse consumers from different generational cohorts. It would be beneficial for companies if future research studied business practices that can be used to reach out to all, or multiple, generations at once. This would create more efficient marketing practices and companies would not have to create dozens of marketing campaigns for each group. This also benefits the company because it ensures that one universal message is spread which makes it harder for consumers to misinterpret or become skeptical of the company's intentions.

References

- 10 global companies that are environmentally friendly. (2016, June 2). Virgin.

 https://www.virgin.com/virgin-unite/10-global-companies-are-environmentally-friendly
- Adams, J. M., & Gay, D. A. (2019). Subjective Patriotism: A Cross-sectional

 Comparison of the Millennial, Generation X, Baby Boom, and Silent Generation

 Birth Cohorts. 18, 14.
- Aji, H. M., & Sutikno, B. (2015). The Extended Consequence of Greenwashing:

 Perceived Consumer Skepticism. *International Journal of Business and Information*, 10(4). https://ijbi.org/ijbi/article/view/127
- Aksoy, L., Alkire (née Nasr), L., Choi, S., Kim, P. B., & Zhang, L. (2019). Social innovation in service: A conceptual framework and research agenda. *Journal of Service Management*, 30(3), 429–448. https://doi.org/10.1108/JOSM-11-2018-0376
- Alderman, H., & Paxson, C. H. (1994). Do the Poor Insure? A Synthesis of the Literature on Risk and Consumption in Developing Countries. In E. L. Bacha (Ed.), *Economics in a Changing World: Volume 4: Development, Trade and the Environment* (pp. 48–78). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-349-23458-5_3
- Allen, R. C. (2017). *The Industrial Revolution: A Very Short Introduction*. Oxford University Press.

- Alston, K., & Roberts, J. P. (1999). Partners in new product development: SC Johnson and the alliance for environmental innovation. *Corporate Environmental Strategy*, 6(2), 110–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1066-7938(00)80022-6
- American Generation Fast Facts. (2019). CNN.

 https://www.cnn.com/2013/11/06/us/baby-boomer-generation-fast-facts/index.html
- Arli, D., van Esch, P., Northey, G., Lee, M. S. W., & Dimitriu, R. (2019). Hypocrisy, skepticism, and reputation: The mediating role of corporate social responsibility.

 *Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 37(6), 706–720. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-10-2018-0434
- Baby Boomers: The Gloomiest Generation. (2008, June 25). *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*.

 https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2008/06/25/baby-boomers-the-gloomiest-generation/
- Barker, S. (2020). How Social Media Influencers Can Impact Your Customers' Purchase Decisions. Social Media Today. https://www.socialmediatoday.com/news/how-social-media-influencers-can-impact-your-customers-purchase-decisions/569813/
- Bedgood, L. (2019, July 15). *Consumer Shopping Trends and Statistics by the Generation: Gen Z, Millennials, Gen X, Boomers and the Silents*. Business 2

 Community. https://www.business2community.com/trends-news/consumer-shopping-trends-and-statistics-by-the-generation-gen-z-millennials-gen-x-boomers-and-the-silents-02220370

- Beitzen-Heineke, E. F., Balta-Ozkan, N., & Reefke, H. (2017). The prospects of zero-packaging grocery stores to improve the social and environmental impacts of the food supply chain. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *140*, 1528–1541. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.227
- Bencsik, A., Horvath-Csikos, G., Juhasz, T., & Csanadi, A. (2019). Healthy Lifestyle and Behaviors of Z Generation. *Journal of Eastern European & Central Asian**Research, 6(2), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.15549/jeecar.v6i2.269
- Blagoycheva, H. (2019). The Pros and Cons of Engaging Citizens in Social Innovation.

 In *Management of innovative development the economic entities* (Vol. 2, pp. 136–144).
- Bowen, H. R. (2013). *Social Responsibilities of the Businessman*. University of Iowa Press; JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt20q1w8f
- Brinkley, R. (2018, October 20). Zero-waste stores pop up in the US, targeting shoppers tired of all the waste. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2018/10/19/zero-waste-markets-want-to-shake-up-grocery-shelves-and-your-shopping.html
- Canter, N. (2006). Greenlist: A process to formulate products. *Tribology & Lubrication Technology*, 62(11), 15–17.
- Carey, N., & White, J. (2018, January 16). Ford plans \$11 billion investment, 40 electrified vehicles by 2022. *Reuters*. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-autoshow-detroit-ford-motor-idUSKBN1F30YZ

- Chakrabarty, S., & Wang, L. (2013). Climate Change Mitigation and Internationalization:

 The Competitiveness of Multinational Corporations. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 55(6), 673–688. https://doi.org/10.1002/tie.21583
- Cherry, M. A., & Sneirson, J. F. (2011). Chevron, Greenwashing, and the Myth of "Green Oil Companies." *Washington & Lee Journal of Energy, Climate, and the Environment*, 2, 133–154.
- Circella, G., Tiedeman, K., Handy, S., Alemi, F., & Mokhtarian, P. (2016). What Affects

 Millennials' Mobility? Part I: Investigating the Environmental Concerns,

 Lifestyles, Mobility-Related Attitudes and Adoption of Technology of Young

 Adults in California. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6wm51523
- Committed to Zero. (2017). Corporate Citizen Magazine, 22, 38–43.
- Costin, G. (2019). Author Post: From Millennials to the Silent Generation: How Age

 Impacts Your Sales. Forbes.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesbooksauthors/2019/07/16/from-millennials-to-the-silent-generation-how-age-impacts-your-sales/
- Coughlin, J. (2018). *Greener Than You: Boomers, Gen X & Millennials Score Themselves On The Environment*. Forbes.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/josephcoughlin/2018/05/05/greener-than-you-boomers-gen-x-millennials-score-themselves-on-the-environment/
- Crowell, C. (2016, May 19). U.S. Glass Recycling Coalition forms with craft breweries playing big role. Craft Brewing Business.

- https://www.craftbrewingbusiness.com/news/u-s-glass-recycling-coalition-forms-with-new-belgium/
- Datta, S. K. (2011). Pro-environmental Concern Influencing Green Buying: A Study on Indian Consumers. https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v6n6p124
- Deal III, W. F. (2010). Going Green with Electric Vehicles. *Technology and Engineering Teacher*, 70(3), 5–11.
- Deaton, J. (2019, March 25). EV charging infrastructure is not being built fast enough. https://www.fastcompany.com/90321889/everybody-wants-ev-charging-stations-but-barely-anyone-is-building-them
- Desjardins, J. (2019, February 14). *Meet Generation Z: The Newest Member to the Workforce*. Visual Capitalist. https://www.visualcapitalist.com/meet-generation-z-the-newest-member-to-the-workforce/
- Diaz, A. (2018, October 30). *Generation Z reported the most mental health problems*.

 CNN. https://www.cnn.com/2018/10/30/health/generation-z-stress-report-trnd/index.html
- Dimock, M. (2019, January 17). Defining generations: Where Millennials end and Generation Z begins. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/01/17/where-millennials-end-and-generation-z-begins/
- Dompe, S., & Smith, A. C. (2014). Layaway: Live after Death. Freeman: Ideas on Liberty, 64(10), 26.

- Dudharejia, M. (2020, March 17). *4 Factors That Influence Consumer Buying Decisions*.

 Total Retail. https://www.mytotalretail.com/article/4-factors-that-actually-influence-consumer-purchase-decisions/
- Easterday, T. (2020, March 13). Tom Easterday: Subaru's zero-landfill effort is example of what's possible. *Indianapolis Business Journal*.

 https://www.ibj.com/articles/subarus-zero-landfill-effort-is-example-of-whats-possible
- Edmondson, cryptocurrency for T. B. R. T. B. editorial policies B. (2019, October 7).

 What Is Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)? The Balance.

 https://www.thebalance.com/corporate-social-responsibility-csr-4772443
- Eng, D. (2014). Tasting Success in Craft Brewing. Fortune, 169(9), 26–28.
- Farzad, R. (2011). Subaru of Indiana, America's scrappiest carmaker. *Indianapolis Business Journal*, 32(28), 19A-19A.
- Fat Tire Packaging. (2009). Brand Packaging, 13(2), 43–43.
- Feenstra, R. C., & Hanson, G. H. (1996). *Globalization, Outsourcing, and Wage Inequality* (Working Paper No. 5424). National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w5424
- Fehrenbacher, K. (2020, March 3). *A conversation with Ford's sustainability leader*.

 GreenBiz; GreenBiz Group Inc. https://www.greenbiz.com/article/conversation-fords-sustainability-leader
- Feloni, R. (2018, December 21). Patagonia's environmental mission hasn't just been good for the planet—It's also boosted the bottom line. Business Insider.

- https://www.businessinsider.com/patagonia-mission-environmentalism-good-for-business-2018-12
- Francis, T., & Hoefel, F. (2018). *Generation Z characteristics and its implications for companies | McKinsey*. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/consumer-packaged-goods/our-insights/true-gen-generation-z-and-its-implications-for-companies
- Furr, N., & Dyer, J. (2020, February 12). Lessons from Tesla's Approach to Innovation.

 Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2020/02/lessons-from-teslas-approach-to-innovation*
- Geiselman, B. (2008). Sustainable SC Johnson. Waste News, 14(1), 7–7.
- Generations X,Y, Z and the Others. (n.d.). Retrieved April 5, 2020, from http://socialmarketing.org/archives/generations-xy-z-and-the-others/
- Graf, N. (2017, May 16). More young workers than ever are college grads in U.S. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2017/05/16/todays-young-workers-are-more-likely-than-ever-to-have-a-bachelors-degree/
- GreenerDesign Staff. (2009, January 28). New Belgium Brewing Co. Slashes Cardboard Packaging. GreenBiz; GreenBiz Group Inc.

 https://www.greenbiz.com/news/2009/01/28/new-belgium-brewing-co-slashes-cardboard-packaging
- Gregg, J. S., Nyborg, S., Hansen, M., Schwanitz, V. J., Wierling, A., Zeiss, J. P.,
 Delvaux, S., Saenz, V., Polo-Alvarez, L., Candelise, C., Gilcrease, W., Arrobbio,
 O., Sciullo, A., & Padovan, D. (2020). Collective Action and Social Innovation in

- the Energy Sector: A Mobilization Model Perspective. *Energies* (19961073), 13(3), 651–651. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13030651
- Haveman, M., & Dorfman, M. (1999). Breaking down the "Green Wall" (part one): Early efforts at integrating business and environment at SC Johnson. *Corporate Environmental Strategy*, 6(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1066-7938(00)80002-0
- Holliday, S. (2019, February 4). Why social innovation needs to get environmental in 2019. Medium. https://medium.com/@sarahgeneste.holliday/why-social-innovation-needs-to-get-environmental-in-2019-224418bf5caa
- Houghton, J. (2009). *Global Warming: The Complete Briefing*. Cambridge University Press.
- Howe, N. (2014). *The Silent Generation, "The Lucky Few" (Part 3 of 7)*. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/neilhowe/2014/08/13/the-silent-generation-the-lucky-few-part-3-of-7/
- Hwang, C., Lee, Y., Diddi, S., & Karpova, E. (2016). "Don't buy this jacket": Consumer reaction toward anti-consumption apparel advertisement. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management: An International Journal*, 20(4), 435–452. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-12-2014-0087
- Iannuzzi, A., & Haviland, R. (2006). Design for the environment at Johnson & Johnson:

 A product design process. *Environmental Quality Management*, 15(3), 43–50.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/tqem.20091

- Insider, B. (2017). Generation Z: Latest Gen Z News, Research, Facts & Strategies / Business Insider. https://www.businessinsider.com/generation-z
- It Pays To Be Green: Corporate Social Responsibility Meets the Bottom Line. (2014). https://www.nielsen.com/us/en/insights/article/2014/it-pays-to-be-green-corporate-social-responsibility-meets-the-bottom-line
- Ivanova, O., Flores-Zamora, J., Khelladi, I., & Ivanaj, S. (2019). The generational cohort effect in the context of responsible consumption. *Management Decision*, *57*(5), 1162–1183. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-12-2016-0915
- Jaeger-Erben, M., Rückert-John, J., & Schäfer, M. (2015). Sustainable consumption through social innovation: A typology of innovations for sustainable consumption practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 108, 784–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.07.042
- Jain, P., & Jain, P. (2019). Ensuring sustainable development by curbing consumerism:

 An eco-spiritual perspective. *Sustainable Development*, 27(3), 474–480.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1935
- Jeyes, D. (2019). *The Values and Motivations Driving Today's Baby Boomers*. The Digital Enterprise. https://www.thedigitalenterprise.com/articles/hospitality/the-values-and-motivations-driving-todays-baby-boomers/
- Johnson, K. (2020, January 21). Ford Earns Spot on CDP Climate 'A List.' *The News Wheel*. https://thenewswheel.com/ford-cdp-climate-a-list/

- Joseph, C. (2018, October 23). *Advantages & Disadvantages of Innovative Technology*. https://smallbusiness.chron.com/advantages-disadvantages-innovative-technology-24267.html
- Katz, S. (2017). Generation X: A Critical Sociological Perspective. *Generations*, 41(3), 12–19.
- Kaufman, L. (2010, June 15). Ad for a Dish Detergent Becomes Part of a Story. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2010/06/16/science/earth/16dawn.html
- Kenton, W. (2020). What You Should Know About Greenwashing. Investopedia. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/greenwashing.asp
- Kuperman, M., & Wio, H. S. (2002). Competition among companies: Coexistence and extinction. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and Its Applications*, *316*(1), 592–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4371(02)01195-0
- Latapí Agudelo, M. A., Jóhannsdóttir, L., & Davídsdóttir, B. (2019). A literature review of the history and evolution of corporate social responsibility. *International Journal of Corporate Social Responsibility*, 4(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40991-018-0039-y
- Linton, I. (2019). What Is Print Media Advertising?

 https://smallbusiness.chron.com/print-media-advertising-55550.html
- Long, Z., Axsen, J., Miller, I., & Kormos, C. (2019). What does Tesla mean to car buyers? Exploring the role of automotive brand in perceptions of battery electric vehicles. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *129*, 185–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2019.08.006

- Losada-Otálora, M., & Alkire (née Nasr), L. (2019). A transformative approach to corporate social responsibility: An antidote to corporate hypocrisy. *The Service Industries Journal*, 0(0), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2019.1655000
- Markham, D. (2015, May 14). Subaru celebrates 10 years of zero landfill manufacturing.

 TreeHugger. https://www.treehugger.com/corporate-responsibility/subaru-celebrates-10-years-zero-landfill-manufacturing.html
- Matten, D., & Moon, J. (2020). Reflections on the 2018 Decade Award: The Meaning and Dynamics of Corporate Social Responsibility. *Academy of Management Review*, 45(1), 7–28. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2019.0348
- McGowan, K., & Westley, F. (2015). At the Root of Change: The History of Social Innovation. In A. Nicholls, J. Simon, & M. Gabriel (Eds.), *New Frontiers in Social Innovation Research* (pp. 52–68). Palgrave Macmillan UK. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137506801_3
- McNall, S. G. (2011). Rapid Climate Change: Causes, Consequences, and Solutions.

 Routledge.

 http://libproxy.txstate.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=465909&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Michel, G. M., Feori, M., Damhorst, M. L., Lee, Y.-A., & Niehm, L. S. (2019). Stories

 We Wear: Promoting Sustainability Practices with the Case of Patagonia. *Family*and Consumer Sciences Research Journal, 48(2), 165–180.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/fcsr.12340

- Mulgan, G., Tucker, S., Ali, R., Sanders, B., & Skoll Centre for Social Entrepreneurship.

 (2007). Social innovation: What it is, why it matters and how it can be accelerated. Young Foundation.
- Nations, O. M. at the U. (2019, September 23). Greta Thunberg condemns world leaders in emotional speech at UN. *The Guardian*.

 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/sep/23/greta-thunberg-speech-un-2019-address
- Ngotngamwong, R. (2019). Working with Millennials: From the Perspective of Baby

 Boomers and Gen Xers... *Human Behavior, Development and Society*, 20(2), 62–73.
- Nguyen, T. (2019, October 16). *Amazon's 1-day shipping is convenient—And terrible for the environment—Vox*. https://www.vox.com/the-goods/2019/10/16/20917467/amazon-one-day-shipping-bad-for-environment
- Nunez, C. (2019, January 22). What Is Global Warming? National Geographic.

 https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/global-warming/global-warming-overview/
- Panwar, S., & Mehta, A. (2019). Fostering Leadership in Generation Z: Onus on Whom? *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 13(3), 65–70.
- Parker, K., Graf, N., & Igielnik, R. (2019, January 17). Generation Z Looks a Lot Like Millennials on Key Social and Political Issues. *Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project*.

- https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2019/01/17/generation-z-looks-a-lot-like-millennials-on-key-social-and-political-issues/
- Parment, A. (2013). Generation Y vs. Baby Boomers Shopping behavior, buyer involvement and implications for retailing | Elsevier Enhanced Reader. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2012.12.001
- Paulin, G. (2018). Fun facts about Millennials: Comparing expenditure patterns from the latest through the Greatest generation. *Monthly Labor Review*, 2018(3), 49.
- Pio, J. G. (2018). Effects of Innovation and Social Capital on Economic Growth:
 Empirical Evidence for the Brazilian Case. *International Journal of Innovation*, 8,
 40–58. https://doi.org/10.5585/iji.v8i1.16478.
- Polonsky, M. J. (1994). An Introduction To Green Marketing. *Electric Green Journal*, *1*(2), 11.
- Prody, J. M. (2016). Combating Greenwashing through Public Critique. *Communication Teacher*, *30*(2), 94–99.
- Raghuraman, S. P., Paynter, D., & Ramaswamy, V. (2019). Quantifying the Drivers of the Clear Sky Greenhouse Effect, 2000–2016. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 124(21), 11354–11371. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JD031017
- Rainer, T. S., & Rainer, J. (2011). The Millennials. B&H Publishing Group.
- Rex, E., & Baumann, H. (2007). Beyond ecolabels: What green marketing can learn from conventional marketing. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *15*(6), 567–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2006.05.013

- Riley, T. (2017, July 10). *Just 100 companies responsible for 71% of global emissions*, *study says*. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/2017/jul/10/100-fossil-fuel-companies-investors-responsible-71-global-emissions-cdp-study-climate-change
- Rutigliano, K. T.-. (2017). Council Post: Five Things You Need To Know About

 Marketing To Baby Boomers. Forbes.

 https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescommunicationscouncil/2017/09/26/five-things-you-need-to-know-about-marketing-to-baby-boomers/
- Salpini, C. (2019, January 16). *Patagonia doubles down on sustainability*. Retail Dive. https://www.retaildive.com/news/patagonia-doubles-down-on-sustainability/546144/
- SC Johnson and the environment. (n.d.). MNN Mother Nature Network. Retrieved October 30, 2019, from https://www.mnn.com/money/sustainable-business-practices/stories/sc-johnson-and-the-environment
- SC Johnson to Receive World Environment Center's 2015 Gold Medal Award for Sustainable Development Achievements. (2014). *PR Newswire*.
- Schooley, S. (2019, April 22). *Corporate Social Responsibility: Definition and Example*. https://www.businessnewsdaily.com/4679-corporate-social-responsibility.html
- Scott, A. J., Storper, M., & Storper, M. (2005). *Pathways to Industrialization and Regional Development*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203995549
- Seemiller, C., & Grace, M. (2016). Generation Z Goes to College. John Wiley & Sons.

- Sexton, J. (2019, November 19). New Belgium Brewing, Colorado's largest craft brewery, announces sale to international beer conglomerate. *The Denver Post*. https://www.denverpost.com/2019/11/19/new-belgium-brewing-sale-kirin/
- Shea, C. T., & Hawn, O. V. (2019). Microfoundations of Corporate Social Responsibility and Irresponsibility. *Academy of Management Journal*, 62(5), 1609–1642. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2014.0795
- Sheykhi, M. T. (2019). Environmental Vulnerability vs Increasing Urbanization in Developing World: A Sociological Appraisal. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 14(4), 11–14.
- Singh, A. (2014). Challenges and Issues of Generation Z. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 16(7), 59–63. https://doi.org/10.9790/487X-16715963
- Slavin, T. (2013, December 17). Social innovation means business becoming a force for good. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/blog/social-innovation-business-force-for-good
- Suttle, R. (2020). Why Is There a Constant Need for Change in Marketing? Small

 Business Chronicle. https://smallbusiness.chron.com/there-constant-need-changemarketing-34431.html
- Swain-Wilson, S. (2018). 10 ways Gen Zs spend money differently than their Gen X parents. Insider. https://www.insider.com/gen-z-vs-gen-x-spending-habits-2018-11
- Tai, F.-M., & Chuang, S.-H. (2014). Corporate Social Responsibility. *IBusiness*, 06(03), 117. https://doi.org/10.4236/ib.2014.63013

- Tatarazako, N., Ishibashi, H., Teshima, K., Kishi, K., & Arizono, K. (2004). Effects of triclosan on various aquatic organisms. *Environmental Sciences : An International Journal of Environmental Physiology and Toxicology*, 11(2), 133–140.
- Tinne, W. S. (2013). Green Washing: An Alarming Issue. *ASA University Review*, 7(1), 81–88.
- Trandafilovic, I., Manić, M., & Blagojević, A. (2017, May 31). History of Green Marketing: The Concept and Development. *7th International Symposium on Natural Resources Management*. International Symposium for Society and Resource Management, Umeå, Sweden.
- Tripathi, S., & Monga, N. (2011). Green Marketing and CSR. *International Journal of Research in Finance and Marketing*, 1(6), 19.
- Turcsanyi, J., & Sisaye, S. (2013). Corporate social responsibility and its link to financial performance: Application to Johnson & Johnson, a pharmaceutical company.

 World Journal of Science, Technology and Sustainable Development, 10(1), 4–18. https://doi.org/10.1108/20425941311313065
- Vogels, E. (2019, September 6). Millennials stand out for their technology use, but older generations also embrace digital life. *Pew Research Center*.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/09/09/us-generations-technology-use/
- Wagner, T. P. (2017). Reducing single-use plastic shopping bags in the USA. *Waste Management*, 70, 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.09.003

- Wang, H., Mamingi, N., Laplante, B., & Dasgupta, S. (2003). Incomplete Enforcement of Pollution Regulation: Bargaining Power of Chinese Factories. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 24(3), 245–262. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022936506398
- Wang, J. (2020). Development and Utilization of Solar Energy Resources and Meteorological Services in Hami City. *Meteorological & Environmental Research*, 11(1), 19–23. https://doi.org/10.19547/j.issn2152-3940.2020.01.005
- Wans, N. (2020). Corporate Social Responsibility and Market-Based Consequences of Adverse Corporate Events: Evidence From Restatement Announcements. *Journal* of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 35(2), 231–262. https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X17725968
- Ward, S. (2020a). What Is Green Marketing and How Do You Do It Right? The Balance Small Business. https://www.thebalancesmb.com/green-marketing-2948347
- Ward, S. (2020b, February 10). 9 Ways to Green Your Business. The Balance Small Business. https://www.thebalancesmb.com/greening-your-business-2948100
- Watson, D. (2019). Fordism: A review essay. *Labor History*, 60(2), 144–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/0023656X.2019.1537031
- Williams, A. (2015). *Move Over, Millennials, Here Comes Generation Z*. The New York

 Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2015/09/20/fashion/move-over-millennialshere-comes-generation-z.html
- Wood, S. (2013). Generation Z as Consumers: Trends and Innovation. *Institute for Emerging Issues: NC State University*, 1–3.